Institut für Schlaganfall- und Demenzforschung (ISD) Institut der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München Vorstand: Prof. Dr. med. Martin Dichgans

Dissertation

zum Erwerb des Doktorgrades der Medizin an der Medizinischen Fakultät der Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität zu München

Thema der Dissertation:

The lateral frontal cortex as a potential substrate of cognitive reserve

vorgelegt von Julia Clarissa Hartmann

aus Hannover

Mit Genehmigung der Medizinischen Fakultät der Universität München

Berichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Michael Ewers
Mitberichterstatter:	Prof. Dr. Johannes Levin
	Prof. Dr. Robert Perneczky
Dekan:	Prof. Dr. med. dent. Reinhard Hickel

Tag der mündlichen Prüfung: 15.04.2021

Table of contents

1. ZI	1. ZUSAMMENFASSUNG		
2. A	BSTRACT		
3. IN	ITRODUCTION	16	
3.1	Aging		
3.2	Reserve – DEFINITION AND MODELS		
3.3	FUNCTIONAL BRAIN CHANGES		
3.4	A LATERAL FRONTAL CORTEX HUB AS A POTENTIAL SUBSTRATE OF RESERVE	21	
4. TI	HEORETICAL BACKGROUND	24	
4.1	BOLD SIGNAL & FMRI	24	
4.2	RESTING-STATE FMRI	25	
4.3	TASK BASED FMRI	27	
4.4	PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGICAL INTERACTION ANALYSIS (PPI)	28	
5.1	Participants		
5.2	ETHICS, PROTOCOL APPROVAL, AND PATIENT CONSENT		
5.3	FMRI Associative Memory Task Design	34	
5.4	MRI DATA ACQUISITION	35	
5.5	Preprocessing of MRI data	36	
5.6	HIPPOCAMPAL VOLUME ASSESSMENT	37	
5.7	TASK-FMRI ANALYSIS		
5.8	DEFINITION OF LFC AND CONTROL REGIONS OF INTEREST (ROIS)		
5.9	PSYCHOPHYSIOLOGICAL INTERACTION (PPI) ANALYSIS	41	
5.10	ASSESSMENT OF PROTECTIVE FACTORS AND RESERVE	43	
6. A	IM & HYPOTHESES	46	
7. ST	TATISTICAL ANALYSIS	47	
8. R	ESULTS	51	
8.1	TASK-FMRI BRAIN ACTIVATION DURING SUCCESSFUL ENCODING	51	
8.2	Reserve, LFC and residualized memory performance		
-	·		
9. D	ISCUSSION	61	
10.	REFERENCES	70	
11.	APPENDIX	75	
11.1	DECLARATION	75	
11.2	Acknowledgements	75	

1. Zusammenfassung

Einleitung:

Da die Menschen heutzutage immer älter werden, rücken die Effekte des Alterns, vor allem in Bezug auf das Gedächtnis und auf strukturelle Gehirnveränderungen, immer mehr in den Fokus der Wissenschaft. Diverse Studien haben gezeigt, dass das alternde Gehirn Veränderungen wie bspw. Gehirnatrophie, insbesondere der grauen und weißen Substanz, aufweist. Aufgrund der Abnahme der Gehirnmasse kommt es im Alter zu einer Reduktion der kognitiven Fähigkeiten. Das Ausmaß dieser kognitiven Beeinträchtigung im Alter variiert allerdings stark, was darauf schließen lässt, dass einige Individuen ihre Gedächtnisleistung trotz der Abnahme in der Gehirnintegrität besser aufrechterhalten können als andere. Das Konzept der Reserve, welche als die Fähigkeit definiert ist, altersassoziierte Gehirnveränderungen besser ausgleichen zu können, könnte dieses Phänomen erklären.

Vorherige Studien haben gezeigt, dass Individuen mit höherer schulischer Bildung und höherem IQ die Kognition, sowohl im gesunden Altern als auch bei beginnender Alzheimer Krankheit, besser aufrechterhalten können. Es ist allerdings unklar, welche funktionellen Gehirnveränderungen der Reserve unterliegen, die den protektiven Effekt auf die Gedächtnisleistung im Alter erklären.

Die funktionelle Architektur des Gehirns setzt sich aus mehreren funktionellen Netzwerken zusammen. Hierbei "kommunizieren" Gehirnregionen innerhalb eines Netzwerkes enger miteinander als Regionen außerhalb des Netzwerkes. Das "kognitive Kontrollnetzwerk" (CCN) erstreckt sich über fronto-parietale Gehirnregionen und besitzt eine zentrale Rolle bei Prozessen des Gedächtnisses und der Aufmerksamkeit, da es die Aktivität von anderen Netzwerken während diesen kognitiven Prozessen reguliert. Innerhalb dieses Kontrollnetzwerkes stellt eine Region im lateralen Frontalkortex (LFC), das Broca-Areal (BA 44/6), einen zentralen Hub dar, d.h. eine Region, die hochgradig mit anderen Gehirnarealen vernetzt ist.

Um zu messen, wie gut Gehirnregionen miteinander vernetzt sind verwenden wir im Folgenden funktionelle Konnektivität (FK), welche anhand von Korrelationen der Gehirnaktivität zwischen Gehirnarealen, gemessen durch funktionelle MRT im Ruhezustand eines Probanden (rfMRT), quantifiziert werden kann.

Vorstudien konnten zeigen, dass bei Patienten mit der Alzheimer Krankheit (AD) eine höhere rfMRT-gemessene LFC Konnektivität mit geringeren Effekten der Alzheimerpathologie auf die Gedächtnisleitung einherging. Zudem haben bisherige Studien gezeigt, dass die FK des LFC besonders hoch bei Personen mit

hohem IQ und langer schulischer Ausbildung ist. Diese Befunde deuten darauf hin, dass eine hohe LFC-Konnektivität die Reserve erhöhen könnte.

Auch das nicht-pathologische, "normale" Altern ist mit Gedächtnisverlusten verbunden, wobei Personen mit höherem IQ und längerer Ausbildung häufig eine bessere Gedächtnisperformanz zeigen. Daher stellt sich die Frage, ob potentielle Reservemechanismen, wie die LFC-Konnektivität, mit höherer Gedächtnisperformanz bei Personen mit längerer Ausbildung assoziiert sind.

Daher bestand das Hauptziel dieser Arbeit darin, die Reserve bei älteren, kognitiv gesunden Probanden zu untersuchen. Wir wollten herausfinden, ob eine erhöhte funktionelle Konnektivität des LFC mit protektiven Faktoren wie längerer schulischer Ausbildung einhergeht und ob eine höhere funktionelle Konnektivität des LFC eine bessere Aufrechterhaltung der Gedächtnisleistung, trotz altersbedingter Veränderungen des Gehirns (wie bspw. Hippocampusatrophie), bedingt.

Hypothesen:

1. Eine längere schulische Bildung (als ein approximatives Maß für Kognitive Reserve) ist mit einer höheren globalen funktionellen Konnektivität des LFC während erfolgreichem assoziativem Lernen und Gedächtnisabruf assoziiert.

2. Eine höhere globale funktionelle Konnektivität des LFC im kognitiven Kontrollnetzwerk ist mit einer höheren Performanz während einer Gedächtnisaufgabe, kontrolliert für Hippocampusatrophie, verbunden.

Um diese Hypothesen zu testen haben wir bei älteren kognitiv gesunden Patienten eine fMRT –Untersuchung durchgeführt, während welcher die Probanden eine Gesichter-Namen-Assoziationsaufgabe lösen mussten. Dies erlaubte uns die funktionelle Konnektivität des LFC während des Lernens und des Abrufes von episodischen Gedächtnisinhalten zu bestimmen.

Methoden:

Probanden:

Insgesamt haben wir 37 kognitiv gesunde Probanden eingeschlossen, die in der Gedächtnisambulanz des Institutes für Schlaganfall- und Demenzforschung (ISD) rekrutiert wurden und ein Alter über 60 Jahren (Mittelwert 72.33, SD 5.77) aufwiesen. Weiterhin durften keine Anzeichen für neurologische oder psychiatrische Erkrankungen vorhanden sein. Die Probanden schnitten alle innerhalb von +/- 1.5 SD der alterskorrigierten Normwerte der CERAD-NP-Plus Testbatterie ab und konnten dadurch als kognitiv gesund eingestuft werden. fMRT Gedächtnisaufgabe:

Die Probanden hatten die Instruktion, während sie im MRT-Gerät lagen eine Gesichter-Namen-Assoziationsaufgabe durchzuführen. Zusammenfassend war die Gedächtnisaufgabe in 14 Lern-Blöcke (Enkodieren), während welcher die Probanden sich ein Gesicht mit zugehörigem Vornamen merken mussten, sowie 14 Gedächtnisabruf-Blöcke (Recognition), in welchen die Probanden zu dem gelernten Gesicht aus zwei darunter stehenden Namen den zugehörigen, richtigen Namen auswählen mussten, unterteilt. Basierend auf korrekt oder falsch erinnerter Namen-Gesichter Paare wurden die Enkodierung der Gesichter-Namen-Paare während des Lernens als erfolgreiches oder inkorrektes Enkodieren klassifiziert. Die Aufgaben-Performanz wurde als die Proportion der Anzahl der erfolgreich abgerufenen Gesichter-Name-Paare in Bezug auf die gesamte Anzahl der Paare gemessen.

Protektive Faktoren und Reserve-Index:

Im Einklang mit vorherigen Studien haben wir die Jahre der schulischen Ausbildung als protektiven Faktor herangezogen.

Gemäß der Definition der Reserve (ein relativ hohes kognitives Leistungsniveau gemessen an dem Grad der Pathologie) haben wir als Reserve-Marker die Gedächtnisleistung, korrigiert für die Hippocampusatrophie, verwendet. In

Anlehnung an die Methode von Reed et al. (2010, Brain) haben wir dazu in einem linearen Regressionsmodel die kompensatorische Kapazität der Probanden gemessen. Die Abweichungen in der Gedächtnisperformanz können teilweise anhand von Pathologie (bspw. Hippocampus-Atrophie), sowie demographischen Maßen (Alter und Geschlecht) erklärt werden. Allerdings verbleibt ein Teil, der durch die genannten Maße nicht erklärbar ist, das Residuum genannt. Das Residuum ist definiert als die Diskrepanz zwischen dem aktuellen Level der Gedächtnisperformanz eines Individuums und dem Level, welches aufgrund von Pathologie und demographischen Maßen vorhergesagt werden kann. Nach dieser Definition haben Individuen mit einer höheren Gedächtnisperformanz als erwartet ein höheres Residuum und damit eine höhere Reserve.

Neuropsychologie:

In der kognitiven Testbatterie CERAD-NP-Plus (48), welche es ermöglicht, eine detaillierte Beurteilung von kortikalen Leistungen und Funktionen sowie des Schweregrads der Beeinträchtigungen und eine Verlaufskontrolle von therapeutischen Maßnahmen zu erfassen, zeigten die Probanden keine Auffälligkeiten.

Statistik:

Psychophysiologische Interaktion (PPI):

Die Psychophysiologische Interaktions-Analyse ist ein statistisches Verfahren, mit welchem man funktionelle Konnektivitätsveränderungen zwischen Gehirnarealen in Abhängigkeit einer Gedächtnisaufgabe untersuchen kann. Wir testeten die Veränderung der funktionellen Konnektivität zwischen dem LFC und restlichen Gehirnarealen während des erfolgreichen Lernens sowie Abrufs von Gesichter-Namenpaaren. Der resultierende PPI-Term repräsentiert das BOLD-Signal des LFC, assoziiert mit erfolgreichem Enkodieren und erfolgreichem Gedächtnisabruf.

In einem ersten Schritt haben wir mittels linearer Regression überprüft, ob eine längere schulische Ausbildung ein größeres Residuum (s.o.) prädiziert. Mit multipler Regression (FK ~ schulische Bildung + Alter + Geschlecht) haben wir dann getestet, ob Probanden mit längerer schulischer Ausbildung eine höhere Aufgaben-assoziierte Gehirnaktivierung zeigen.

Anschließend haben wir unsere Hypothese, ob schulische Bildung mit einer höheren funktionellen Konnektivität des LFC während erfolgreichem Lernen assoziiert ist, überprüft. Dazu haben wir eine voxel-basierte multiple Regressionsanalyse (FK ~ schulische Bildung + Alter + Geschlecht) verwendet.

Als letztes haben wir getestet, ob eine höhere funktionelle Konnektivität des LFC in Bezug auf KR mit einem höheren Residuum assoziiert ist (Kompensatorische Kapazität ~ FK + Alter + Geschlecht).

Ergebnisse:

Während erfolgreichem Enkodieren der Gesichter-Namenpaare konnten wir in fronto-temporalen Gehirnbereichen der linken Hemisphäre eine erhöhte Aktivierung des Gehirns nachweisen. Bei erfolgreichem Gedächtnisabruf haben wir Cluster signifikanter Gehirnaktivierung in beiden Hemisphären, hauptsächlich aber in mittelliniennahen Regionen, gefunden. Ergebnisse unserer PPI-Analyse zeigen, dass während erfolgreichem Enkodieren, sowie während erfolgreichem Abruf, der LFC eine erhöhte funktionelle Konnektivität mit Gehirnarealen, einschließlich temporalen und occipitalen Bereichen, aufweist. Eine höhere schulische Bildung prädizierte eine erhöhte LFC-Konnektivität, vor allem mit mesiotemporalen Gehirnregionen und während erfolgreichem Enkodieren.

Bei erfolgreichem Abrufen (Recognition) war eine höhere schulische Bildung mit einer erhöhten Konnektivität des LFC mit frontalen Regionen sowie dem Sulcus parieto-occipitalis assoziiert. Eine erhöhte LFC-Konnektivität während der Gedächtnisaufgabe war mit einer erhöhten Gedächtnisperformanz im MRT

Scanner, als auch in neuropsychologischen Tests (CERAD) des freien Abrufs von Wortlisten assoziiert. Dadurch konnten wir zeigen, dass während des Enkodierens und des Abrufs (Recognition) eine höhere LFC-Konnektivität mit einem höheren Residuum der Probanden verbunden ist, diese also eine höhere Reserve besitzen.

Fazit:

Zusammenfassend lässt sich festhalten, dass der LFC (BA 44/6) während verschiedener Gedächtnisaufgaben stark global vernetzt ist. Weiterhin ist während der Gedächtnisaktivierung eine höhere schulische Ausbildung, als Proxy für Reserve, mit einer höheren LFC-Konnektivität assoziiert, was mit einem besserer Gedächtnisleistung relativ zu Alter und Hippocampusatrophie der Probanden einhergeht. Unsere Ergebnisse legen daher nahe, dass eine höhere funktionelle Konnektivität des LFC ein Substrat der Reserve ist und dadurch die Gedächtnisfunktion im Alter stützt, sodass Menschen trotz altersassoziierter Gehirnveränderungen ihre Gedächtnisleistung länger aufrechterhalten können.

2. Abstract

The aging brain undergoes structural changes, such as brain atrophy, especially of the white and grey matter. Due to these changes, the cognition and the memory performance of elderly people decreases, but nevertheless there are considerably large differences in cognitive performance. Why some elderly people are able to maintain their memory performance relatively long despite brain atrophy still remains unclear. A mechanism called reserve is characterized by the phenomenon that a person can preserve a substantial percentage of her cognitive abilities in spite of the presence of age- or disease-related brain changes. It could be shown that in subjects without mental pathology and with similar levels of cognitive performance the degree of reserve (as measured by protective factors such as education or IQ) was associated with the degree of grey matter atrophy. These findings suggest increased compensatory ability in elderly subjects with high reserve, which allows to accrue more age-related grey matter atrophy while still holding up cognitive performance.

Yet, the neural underpinnings of such compensatory effects remain largely unclear. A putative brain network supporting reserve is the cognitive control network (CCN). This particular network is of major importance for the regulation of the activity of other brain networks that are involved in mental processes like memory or attention. Within this control network especially the lateral frontal

cortex (LFC), Brodman-Area 44/6, is a hub-region (a region that is highly connected with other brain regions) with a high degree of functional connectivity (FC, i.e. correlated brain activity) to an array of other brain regions.

In the present study, one of the main goals was the attempt to identify the functional brain mechanisms that underlie reserve in aging subjects, which allow to mitigate the impact of grey matter atrophy on cognitive performance. Specifically, we investigated whether functional MRI assessed LFC connectivity during a memory-task is related to reserve-associated protective factors (IQ, education), and whether high LFC connectivity was associated with better mnestic parameters in relation to the respective level of grey matter atrophy.

The sample consisted of 37 elderly cognitively normal subjects who consulted the memory clinic of the Ludwig-Maximilians-University Munich located at the Institute for Stroke and Dementia Research (ISD). All subjects were over 60 years old and underwent comprehensive neuropsychological testing. To assess brain activation during episodic memory, functional MRI during a face-name association task was acquired. Reserve was operationalized by years of formal education and intelligence quotient (IQ). Grey matter volume was measured within the hippocampus, a key brain region involved in episodic memory, based on volumetric T1 MRI images. Subjects performed a memory task during which the functional connectivity of the LFC was determined via psychophysiological interaction (PPI) analysis, a useful tool to investigate task-dependent changes in functional connectivity.

Using various linear regression models, we focused on the question if and to what extent the functional LFC connectivity during effective mnestic encoding or recognition may be related to reserve. Reserve was defined as higher educational level and better scores in the memory tasks in relation to the stage of grey matter atrophy.

Our main method was the psychophysiological interaction (PPI) analysis, a useful tool to investigate task-dependent changes in functional connectivity.

The current project uses modern neuroimaging techniques to investigate functional brain mechanisms underlying reserve, which could provide further insight on how the brain manages to sustain higher levels of cognitive abilities and performance despite brain pathology.

Our current findings could show that during memory processes a higher education level was related to higher LFC connectivity, which in turn predicted a

better memory performance relative to the levels of brain atrophy. Higher LFC connectivity may thus be an important factor contributing to reserve.

3. Introduction

3.1 Aging

Since the average life expectancy is continuously rising (1), the effects of aging on brain and on cognition are becoming increasingly relevant. Numerous studies described that aging is linked to major changes of the brain, such as the agerelated reduction of the size of the brain, especially of the grey-and white-matter volume (2-4).

At the cognitive level, particularly episodic memory declines in ageing, notably toward age > 70 years (4, 5). The human episodic memory is a neurocognitive ability that allows remembering past and ongoing personal events and daily experiences. Therefore, recognition in episodic memory can be seen as a "mental time travel" through one's past (6). Compared to episodic memory, semantic memory allows remembering general knowledge and facts, but does not include conscious recollection of the experience of the recollected episode. At the level of age-related brain changes, a global reduction of grey-matter (GM) volume as measured by volumetric MRI has been described. This loss of GM volume is pronounced within the medial temporal lobe and prefrontal cortex (5, 7), brain areas that are crucial for episodic memory.

However, the impact of grey-matter atrophy on memory shows considerable variability among elderly subjects that often exhibit striking discrepancies in the

measured brain changes and the corresponding level of cognitive performance (6). Therefore, the question arises how some elderly people can maintain their memory performance longer than others.

The functional brain mechanisms that support reserve, i.e. the ability to maintain cognition despite brain pathology are, however, still mostly unknown. Identifying brain mechanisms that support reserve was the major goal of the current study.

3.2 Reserve – definition and models

The discrepancy between measured brain pathology and cognitive ability was described early by Katzman et al. (8), who initially discovered a mismatch between brain pathology and cognitive function parameters in patients diagnosed with dementia of the Alzheimer type. Individual's life experiences like educational and intellectual level, and leisure time activities, were found to guard against cognitive decline and were linked to a reduced risk of developing AD dementia (9, 10). Thus, education, IQ and leisure activities (11) are assumed to increase reserve capacity, i.e. the capacity to sustain cognitive functions relatively well with respect to the level of age- or disease related brain changes (see Figure 1).

A core prediction of the reserve concept is that a person with high reserve may not only start with a higher level of cognitive performance before the onset of the disease, but is also able to adequately preserve this level despite age- or disease-related brain changes (9, 12).

In this study we aimed at focusing on reserve and the functional brain changes that may support the concept of reserve upholding memory performance despite brain pathology. Some researchers have posited that reserve may in part stem from modifiable functional brain mechanisms, which are referred to as cognitive reserve (13). Cognitive reserve has been contrasted with a more passive and static concept of reserve, i.e. brain reserve (BR). (14)

Brain reserve

Brain reserve (BR) is defined as a "passive reserve" due to larger brains, more neurons and synapses (15). A typical measure of BR is head circumference, i.e. proxy of premorbid brain volume. Subjects with larger brains show a decreased risk of developing AD dementia (15). The underlying assumption is that subjects with larger brains can tolerate more brain atrophy until reaching a critical threshold of neuronal loss at which cognitive symptoms arise (9, 15). Since functional brain changes (i.e. cognitive reserve) must be interrelated to structural brain changes (i.e. brain reserve), both brain and cognitive reserve must be related and often been used interchangeably (10). To avoid any confusion, we use the term reserve.

Brain maintenance

A third concept that has been argued to contribute to reserve capacity is brain maintenance (BM), i.e. the persistence of brain integrity throughout one's life (16). The concept focuses on conditions that support the maintenance of structural and functional brain integrity in aging and can be seen as the relative immunity to brain pathology (16).





Age-related Brain Changes

Figure 1: Illustration explaining the concept of reserve – people with high reserve are able to maintain their memory performance relatively well despite age-related brain changes while people with lower reserve develop cognitive decline already in earlier states of age-related brain changes (adapted and modified from 14).

3.3 Functional brain changes

Several functional MRI and PET studies have investigated functional brain changes that may relate to reserve in the face of neuropathology, increased brain atrophy and stronger FDG-PET hypometabolism (17).

Stern et al. proposed that protective factors like educational and intellectual level, are specifically correlated with reserve, i.e. the capacity that relies upon functional brain changes that are presumably modifiable by life time experiences (13). Elderly subjects with higher education were found to have a later onset of memory decline and a lower risk of developing neurodegenerative diseases, such as AD (10, 18), but once the memory impairment appears, the cognitive decline develops more rapidly in subjects with more education in comparison to subjects with lower education (18). Additionally, previous studies showed that elderly subjects with more years of education accumulate more brain pathology, such as FDG-PET hypometabolism, before developing a cognitive decline (19-22). Differences in the brains compensatory capacity of young or old cognitively normal individuals might be explained by the finding that there is a marked inter-individual variance with respect to the processing of memory tasks (23) which may underlie the concept of higher reserve being protective against agerelated brain changes (23, 24).

Furthermore, it was found that elderly subjects with preclinical AD showed fronto-parietal hyperactivations during a memory task compared to young healthy subjects (25). This increased neural activation (increased BOLD-signal) during cognitive activity in elderly people with brain pathology or mild cognitive impairment (MCI) in comparison to younger or healthy subjects suggest the fronto-parietal hyperactivation to be compensatory for cognitive decline (26), especially in task-positive regions during memory encoding.

Taken together, all these findings suggest subjects with more years of formal education to develop a reserve capacity during lifetime that enables them to maintain their cognitive performance in ageing relatively well despite agerelated brain changes.

3.4 A lateral frontal cortex hub as a potential substrate of reserve It was recently argued that especially the "cognitive control network" (CCN) (27) that is activated across different cognitive domains (28, 29), may underlie the impact of higher education on cognitive performance in elderly subjects. Due to this "cognitive control network", elderly people can increase their performance during a given task (30, 31).

The frontal lobe is known to be essential for intelligence, memory, language and problem solving. Especially the left frontal cortex (LFC) is an important brain

region that has been associated with higher cognitive control and mental ability (12). The LFC, mainly the Brodman Area 44 of the inferior frontal gyrus that corresponds to the Broca area, is part of the cognitive control network (CCN). Specifically, that LFC region is a hub of the CCN and is globally connected throughout the whole brain. It is assumed to be one of the top 5% of cerebral regions with regard to the number of functional connections to other cerebral regions (31). We refer in the following by "LFC" to this hub region only for the sake of briefness. The CCN consists of flexible hubs (regions that appear to link multiple functional clusters) that regulate different systems such as the visual, limbic or motor system according to a given task (12). Moreover, the CCN is reported to be a network that is crucial for maintaining mental health and due to this being protective against age-related brain changes (12).

In particular, the LFC was reported to be important as a specific control region, due to the finding that individuals with higher global brain connectivity (GBC) of the LFC had greater cognitive control capacity. Regions that show high GBC have an exceedingly high number of connections to the rest of the brain, they are globally connected and thought to use these brain-wide connections as a central mechanism supporting intelligence and cognitive control (31, 32).

Previous studies showed that the LFC as a key region in the CCN has the ability to recollect specific details about past experiences and is involved in retrieval of

episodic memories, increasing the effective performance in cognitively controlled processes (33).

The LFC plays a significant role in numerous mental functions like both working and episodic memory (25), is associated with education and shows a high degree of functional connectivity to other brain regions, facilitating the adaption of brain networks to current task- demands (28).

The LFC modifies its' functional connectivity according to the task and is most active during novel and non-routine tasks. Moreover, it was shown that the LFCconnectivity is related to intelligence (34), higher IQ and memory performance (32). Due to this finding, we hypothesize that higher global LFC functional connectivity may be a potential substrate of reserve. We thus aimed to answer the question whether people with higher reserve may have stronger connections of the LFC to the rest of the brain and if these stronger connections may lead to better memory performance.

4. Theoretical background

4.1BOLD signal & fMRI

Active neurons in the brain need more glucose and oxygen, in response to a demand for information processing, that is rapidly delivered via the blood stream. This process was first shown in 1990 by Ogawa et al. and is called neurovascular coupling (NVC). NVC can be specified as the phenomenon by which the level of neural activity can be estimated by the corresponding level of cerebral blood flow (CBF) (35). The *Blood-oxygen-level-dependent (BOLD) signal* is defined as the magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) contrast of blood deoxyhemoglobin. The change in the oxy- to deoxyhemoglobin-ratio, for example the surplus on local blood oxygen of an active brain area, can be measured with MRI.

Functional MRI (fMRI) gauges brain activity by capturing changes in blood oxygenation and blood flow that emerge as a parameter of neural activity. Since fMRI is a non-invasive examination which does not use radiation and has relatively good spatial and temporal resolution, it shows several advantages in comparison to for example positron emission tomography (PET).

With fMRI we can investigate changes in the brains connectivity and describe the relationship between neuronal activity patterns (36) of an a priori defined seed region and other spatially separated brain regions. The correlated brain activity

of different, functionally linked brain regions is known as functional connectivity (FC).

FC refers to the temporal correlation of the BOLD signal between spatially remote brain regions (37), while structural connectivity refers to directly connected brain regions.

4.2 Resting-State fMRI

Several studies from the past years introduced a method to examine the FC between spatially separated cerebral regions during rest. This approach of resting-state fMRI connectivity (36) is employed to assess the patterns functional communication of different regions of the brain. The level of this resting state brain activity is measured by placing subjects into the scanner and instructing them to close their eyes, to let their mind wander without focusing on special thoughts and to relax, without falling asleep. If the time-series of two spatially separated brain regions show a high correlation, a high level of FC between these brain regions can be assumed. For this technique (RS fMRI) low frequency oscillations (0.01-0.1 HZ) are used.

In 1997, Biswal et al.(38) were the first who could prove that there is a close association between these patterns of spontaneous neural activation of different regions of the brain, suggesting an ongoing information flow and FC

between these regions during rest. Later on, several studies replicated these results, presenting more brain networks where high levels of FC could be found during resting state.

It was shown that during this state a group of functionally and closely linked subnetworks could be detected, which were called resting-state networks. These intrinsic brain networks are spatially separated but during resting state exhibit a high level of FC. One of the most interesting of the eight identified RS networks is the default-mode network (DMN). This network comprises the medial frontal, inferior parietal and temporal regions of the brain as well as the precuneus (36). In comparison to other RS-networks the DMN shows an increase of neural activity during rest and a decrease during task. Moreover, activity and connectivity of the DMN are known to be linked to human cognition and emotional processing and therefore the DMN is of special interest, being related to cognitive dysfunctions, neurological and psychiatric disorders (39), such as a decreased FC of the DMN in AD patients.

Additionally, Tavor et al. could prove that the continuing interaction of the functional networks shows a good match between resting-state and task (40).

4.3 Task based fMRI

To study the brain changes during task processing, fMRI based on BOLD techniques has been widely used (41). In task-based fMRI, subjects perform a given task while lying in the scanner. Thereby, one can determine which brain areas are activated during that task. The differences in brain activation are measured based on regional BOLD signal changes between task and RS (42). On this basis, a block-model can be created where BOLD images of the whole brain are collected every 1-3 seconds and the BOLD signal can thus be associated with the cognitive task (43). The general linear model (GLM) is then employed to perform the task analysis. For constructing the design matrix for the GLM, the regressor variables are based on the canonical hemodynamic response function (HRF) (see figure 2a).

For task fMRI, it could be shown that within the DMN or "task-negative" networks there is a negative BOLD response (deactivation). On the contrary, task-positive networks get activated during performance tasks (44). Moreover, stronger increases in neural activity during tasks proved to be associated with higher degrees of connectivity to the task-positive brain networks (44).

4.4 Psychophysiological Interaction analysis (PPI)

To measure the changes of connectivity pattern of the LFC during memory processing, we used the Psychophysiological Interaction (PPI) analysis, a useful tool to assess task-specific changes of different brain regions with respect to their FC.

Friston et al. introduced the PPI technique as a method to analyze functional connectivity between brain regions during specific task-demands (45). PPIs are especially suitable to assess how activity in one brain area may predict the activity in another brain area (45).

With the PPI analysis one can identify voxels in the brain in which activity is related to the activity of a specific cerebral region (region of interest = ROI) during a given cognitive task condition. The first step is identifying the seed ROI and extracting the time course of activity from that ROI mask. The conditionspecific FC fluctuations between different brain areas (46), the interaction between the task and the ROI BOLD time series, controlled for the main effects, and task related activation were tested in the GLM (see Figure 2b).



Figure 2a: The illustration shows the association of the BOLD-signal depicted by the hemodynamic-response function (HRF) and the level of neural activity. The HRF represents the change in blood flow that can be attributed to the metabolic demands due to neuronal activity.



Figure 2b: The execution of PPI analysis which was employed to evaluate. LFC connectivity in the course the processing of mnestic tasks (*encoding* and *recognition*). The illustration shows the calculated LFC time course which in step #1 was deconvolved and multiplied with the task-specific regressor variable (*correct encoding* or *correct recognition*) and then in step #2 reconvolved with a canonical HRF resulting in the PPI interaction terms. Subsequently, for each subject the contrasts 'correct encoding > 0' and 'correct recognition > 0' were modeled to compute the degree of connectivity of the LFC in the course of correct encoding and correct recognition. For the occipital pole and the precuneus, our two control ROIs, equivalent analyses were performed.

Applied to the current study, we used a PPI to assess how the LFC connectivity pattern changes during memory processing in a sample of cognitively normal elderly. It was hypothesized that a greater task-associated connectivity of the LFC during memory encoding and recall corresponds to higher levels of reserve proxies (e.g. years of education), making it a potential brain area supporting the reserve concept.

5. Methods

The study on which the present thesis is based, was part of a larger research project on the substrate of reserve, conducted at the ISD. For more details on the methods employed, especially the processing of MRI signals, the technical equipment, the task design, and the statistical analyses, please see references 73 and 77.

5.1 Participants

The sample of this study consisted of patients who consulted the memory outpatient clinic of the University Hospital of Munich (Ludwigs-Maximilians-Universität) located at the Institute for Stroke and Dementia Research (ISD). To be eligible for inclusion subjects had to be older than 60 years of age and classified as cognitively normal as measured by the test scores of the CERAD-NP-Plus battery described below. Reasons for exclusion were: the presence of depressive symptoms (as defined by a score above 18 on the geriatric depression scale (47)), indicators of other acute or lifetime neurological and/or psychiatric disorders, MRI contraindications, diabetes mellitus, a premorbid IQ < 85, and any lifetime-history of alcohol or drug abuse. In addition, there were some subjects which we had to exclude because of incomplete fMRI task data or missing neuropsychological data, or which had a skull deformation due to birth defect. Overall, a total of 37 cognitively healthy subjects could be included in this study.

For the assessment of neuropsychological parameters, the CERAD-NP-Plus battery was used, a well-known testing system for evaluating the cognitive abilities of elderly persons with and without mental impairment (48). To be included in this study the individual scores had to fall in the range of 1,5 SDs of the norms of all subtests of the CERAD-NP-Plus battery, adjusted for education, age, and gender. In line with previous studies (19), we used the educational level (operationalized as years of formal education) as a surrogate marker of reserve. The subjects were assessed during two sessions. On the first day, they underwent physical and neuropsychological examination. On the second day the subjects returned for MRI acquisition, including face-name association task fMRI.

5.2 Ethics, protocol approval, and patient consent

This study was approved by the local ethics committee of the Ludwigs-Maximilians-Universität Munich (LMU). Each participant was informed in detail by a study physician and signed a written declaration of consent prior to the study. The study procedures were performed in concordance with the 164 Helsinki Declaration and its later amendments.

5.3 fMRI Associative Memory Task Design

An event-associated mixed block and design was employed which was adjusted and modified based on previously published fMRI paradigms (49, 50). In brief, the task uses a face-name associative memory paradigm that can assess memory encoding as well as memory recall. As stimuli, images of faces unknown to the scanned individual were used and coupled with the presentation of Christian names. These images were obtained from the 'Glasgow Unfamiliar Face Database' (http://www.abdnfacelab.com) and were chosen on the basis of direct expression, Caucasian ethnicity, neutral look, and no visible jewellery. The Christian names were acquired from the 'Leipzig Corpora Collection' (http://corpora.informatik.uni-leipzig.de) and were selected on the basis of a log-transformed frequency, with a range of five or six letters. In total our subjects had to view 112 different faces (50:50, M: F) and 168 names (50:50, M: F). The task was composed of 14 blocks of face-name encoding and recall where each face-name pair was presented for 5 seconds. Following a randomized inter-trialinterval (ITI) of 1500 – 3000ms, the next pair was shown.

During an encoding block, the subjects were presented 8 faces paired with a name below. In the subsequent recall block, the faces were presented again together with a choice of both names—i.e. the name actually presented vs. a distractor—and subjects were asked to choose the correct name, i.e. the one

that was originally shown with the respective image. In 50% of the recall blocks, the distractor consisted of a new Christian name, while in the remaining 50% a name was presented which had already been shown together with another face. In the recall blocks accurate responses were marked as successful recognition, inaccurate responses as incorrect recognition. Depending on the responses during the recognition block, the previous trials were rated either as accurate encoding or inaccurate encoding. Accordingly, the overall performance of a subject was determined as the percentage of face-name pairs correctly recalled compared to the total number of stimuli presented. In total, there were 14 blocks of encoding and 14 blocks of recall. By employing a similar task on a laptop computer, all subjects underwent a task-specific training session prior to the real fMRI assessment. During this training no answers and no feedback were given. The task was presented via a vision goggle system that allows for individual eyesight correction, responses were recorded using response grips (www.nordicneurolab.com).

5.4 MRI data acquisition

The MRI scans were conducted on a Siemens Verio 3T MRI scanner and a 12channel head coil. A initial high-resolution structural image was generated by employing a T1-weighted MPRAGE sequence (TR/TE = 1750/2.52 ms, Flip angle
= 9°) with anisotropic voxel size of 1-mm. Task-fMRI was obtained using a T2*weighted echo-planar imaging (EPI) pulse sequence (TR/TE = 2000/30 ms, flip angle 90 degrees) with an in-plane resolution of 3.4mm, a slice thickness of 3mm and a 1-mm interslice gap. Task fMRI EPIs were recorded divided in 3 runs with the first two runs comprising 320 volumes each, and the third run 260 volumes. The total task-fMRI thus comprised 900 volumes which took approximately 30 minutes to acquire. Before the acquisition of task fMRI data, gradient-echo fieldmaps were registered to control for susceptibility artefacts in T2*-weighted images during preprocessing of fMRI data.

5.5 Preprocessing of MRI data

Structural MRI data were preprocessed with the use of Statistical Parametric Mapping (SPM) 12 (Wellcome Trust Centre for Neuroimaging, UCL, London, UK). In a first analysis, SPM's new segment approach (51) was used to subdivide T1weighted MPRAGE images into probabilistic maps of cerebrospinal fluid (CSF), white matter (WM), and gray matter (GM). Based on a high-dimensional diffeomorphic registration algorithm, spatial normalization parameters were assessed to warp all individual GM map to an average group-specific GM template which was calculated through an iterative procedure, provided by the SPM DARTEL toolbox (52). The resulting group-specific GM pattern was then affine registered to a T1 template in MNI space. To normalize a subjects GM image, the non-linear DARTEL flow-fields were combined with the affine transformation parameters and employed on the segmented GM maps. In order to generate a GM mask to restrict the following fMRI analyses to the cortex, these spatially normalized GM maps were subsequently averaged and binarized at a probability value > 0.3.

For preprocessing the fMRI task data, gradient-echo fieldmaps were employed to correct all EPI images interleaved slice-timing acquisition order, motion artifacts, and possible inhomogeneities of the magnetic field using the. In fact, none of the individual motion parameters fell out of the range of 2mm translations or 2° rotations. By applying the combined non-linear DARTEL flowfields and the affine transformation parameters, the EPI images were subsequently co-registered to the high-resolution T1-weighted images and then normalized to MNI space. To minimize spatial bias, the EPIs were finally smoothed using an 8 mm full width at half maximum Gaussian kernel.

5.6 Hippocampal volume assessment

Hippocampus volume was assessed by employing a well-established and fully automated protocol (53) which has demonstrated its ability to lead to results that are highly similar to the complex manual hippocampal segmentation. For

this protocol, the DARTEL flow-fields obtained during the spatial normalization process were used to normalize the individual grey matter maps to MNI space and then smoothed with an 8mm full width at half maximum Gaussian kernel. To maintain the volume of the images during spatial normalization, Jacobian modulation was applied., After that, the images were masked with a bilateral hippocampus mask drawn from the 'Automatic Anatomic Labeling Atlas' (54) and thus the bilateral hippocampal volume could be extracted.

5.7 Task-fMRI analysis

A fixed-effects general linear model (GLM) was used to analyze task-fMRI data on a subject-level. The GLM is a well-established approach that can be used to make statistical comparisons ranging from unpaired t-tests to linear regression (55). For each subject, the GLM design matrix was formed by including 6 condition regressor variables (*accurate encoding, incorrect encoding, accurate recognition, incorrect recognition, instructions encoding, instructions recognition*) plus 6 movement regressor variables that were derived during EPI preprocessing (3 rotations & 3 translations estimated during EPI preprocessing) to control for motion-induced bias. Each condition was convolved with a canonical hemodynamic response function (HRF) complemented with a

multivariate Taylor expansion accounting for the temporal and dispersion derivatives.

In each measurement a separate covariate—which was time-locked to the stimulus event—was used to model task-related brain activation. Depending on whether the subjects correctly or incorrectly recognized the face-name pair during the subsequent forced-choice recognition test block, the recall trials were coded as events of *successful* or *incorrect recognition performance*. The overall task performance of a subject was defined as the percentage of correctly recognized face-name pairs in relation to the total number of face-name pairs presented.

5.8 Definition of LFC and control regions of interest (ROIs)

For the identification of brain regions that are linked to cognitive control during task-fMRI, the web-based tool NeuroSynth was administered to perform a metaanalysis of published task-fMRI studies. NeuroSynth (<u>http://www.neurosynth.org/)</u> is a meta-analysis tool allowing an entirely automated extraction of coordinates of cerebral activation derived from previous fMRI studies.

Compendiously, the strength of the relation between a specific search term and the corresponding cerebral activation is computed across several studies, thus

resulting in a probabilistic map of the proportion of brain activation that is related to the respective search term (56). As of September 14, 2015, a total of 428 task-fMRI studies could be detected by utilizing the term "cognitive control" (56). Subsequently, the z-score map derived from this procedure was thresholded at p < 0.01 (FDR-corrected). Through a visual control, it could be verified that the distribution of brain regions exhibiting high z-scores primarily matched the fronto-parietal cognitive control network, including the LFC. This was taken as evidence that the targeted brain activation locations have been identified. The peak voxel coordinate was sustained within a cluster centered within the LFC, specifically Brodman area 6 (MNI: x = -42, y = 6, z = 28). Centered at that coordinate, an 8-mm spherical binary ROI was constructed and utilized as the seed region for the ensuing PPI analysis (17).

For this study, control ROIs were located in the occipital pole (MNI: x = -19, y = -102, z = -3), and in the precuneus (MNI: x=7, y=-60, z=21). The occipital pole was used because it hosts a unimodal sensory region, which—other than the LFC—does not play a role in higher cognition. On the other hand, the precuneus was chosen for its significance as a functional hub region. Similar to the LFC, the precuneus is universally connected to a wide range of other brain regions (31) and deeply involved in complex cognitive functions including memory (57).

5.9 Psychophysiological Interaction (PPI) analysis

With the Psychophysiological Interactions (PPI), a seed-based analysis, we aimed to identify changes in the correlation between brain regions under experimental change. In our case this would mean how the interaction between the LFC and the other brain regions changes during the processing of memory tasks. The PPI is a useful tool to evaluate the interaction modes of different brain regions depending on specific tasks and can be seen as an index of condition-specific brain connectivity in task fMRI (task-related connectivity).

First level analysis: We used a generalized PPI (gPPI) in this sample. It was set up to be able to automatically incorporate more than two task conditions in one PPI model. Thus, in our cognitively normal subjects, the context-dependent functional connectivity of the LFC with all other brain voxels during *successful encoding* or *successful recognition* could be computed.

The generalized form of PPIs has been shown to be more sensitive and specific than the standard PPI form as it allows independent modeling of different conditions (58). To accomplish the gPPI, the freely obtainable 'gPPI Toolbox' (<u>http://www.nitrc.org/projects/gppi</u>) was employed. Following a protocol recommended by Gitelman et al. (59), the time course that was deconvolved with a canonical HRF was extracted to transform the BOLD signal into a neural signal. Subsequently, the LFC was pinpointed as a sphere of 8mm around the

peak activation for *successful encoding* greater than *successful recognition*. In a next step, we multiplied the deconvolved LFC time course with the task-specific regression variable (*accurate encoding* vs. *accurate recognition*) and then reconvolved it with a canonical HRF to form the interaction-terms required for the gPPI analysis. Hence, for each subject the resulting PPI terms represent the BOLD signal of the LFC that is associated with *successful encoding* or *successful recognition*.

The gPPI produces a design matrix that contains three different groups of columns per pass: (1) task regressors, generated by combining the task blocks with the canonical HRF; (2) the LFC BOLD signal; and (3) the PPI regressor variables for successful *encoding and successful recognition* which are computed by (a) a separate multiplication with the LFC-BOLD signal, followed by (b) a convolvation with the canonical HRF.

In accordance with our first level GLM analysis, 9 regressors were employed to model the BOLD signal per pass: (1) Encode Correct, (2) Encode Incorrect, (3) Recognition Correct, (4) Recognition Incorrect, (5,6) Instructions for Encode and Recognition, (7,8) Interaction terms for PPIs, (9) time course of the LFC; (10,11) motion parameters. After generating this design matrix, the gPPI Toolbox forms an estimate of the model parameters and calculates linear contrasts. Applying this procedure, the connectivity of the LFC during *correct encoding* and *correct*

recognition was evaluated by modeling these PPI contrasts *successful encoding>0* and *successful recognition>0* for every subject. For the two control ROIs, the precuneus and the occipital pole, identical analyses were carried out.

5.10 Assessment of protective factors and reserve

We assessed reserve based on a previous study (60) that has defined it as the difference between an individuals' factual degree of mnestic performance and the level of performance that can be predicted based on brain pathology and demographic measures (i.e. age, gender & ApoE genotype). According to this definition, those individuals whose given memory performance proves to exceed the expected level of performance that can be deduced from brain pathology and demographics, have a higher reserve (see Figure 3).

A widely used alternative for the evaluation of an individual's level of reserve—which is congruent with numerous previous studies ((61); (19); (18); (62); (63); (9); (64); (65))—is the use of the parameter educational level (i.e. years of formal education) as a readily accessible proxy measure.





Memory performance as predicted by age, hippocampal volume and gender

Figure 3: The illustration shows the principle underlying our conceptualization of reserve. The scores of mnestic performance actually measured are plotted against the mnestic performance that could be expected with respect to age, gender, and hippocampal volume. In subjects with high reserve (indicated by green circles), the mnestic performance was better than predicted, while in subjects with lower reserve (indicated by blue circles) the mnestic performance was lower than predicted.

As predictors of memory performance, we used an estimate of brain pathology (hippocampal volume), as well as demographic measures (age, gender & ApoE genotype), similar to an approach previously described (60). The residual variance of episodic memory that is not explained by hippocampal volume, age

¹ The final publication is available at IOS Press through <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170360.</u> The permission to reprint this figure was granted by the publisher.

or gender can thus be seen as a scalar indicator of reserve. For computing this residual variance of memory, we used multiple regression analysis after regressing out the amount of variance that can be attributed to hippocampal volume, age and gender.

Reserve was assessed on two different measures of episodic memory. Firstly, we used the mean accuracy in the fMRI memory task where we additionally regressed out variance explained by mean reaction time. This was used as a measure of reserve specific to our fMRI memory task. Secondly, the word list learning score subtest of the CERAD-NP-Plus test battery was used as a memory measure to assess reserve independent of the fMRI memory task paradigm (out-of-scanner-performance). After applying linear regression to fMRI task accuracy and the word list learning score, the residual variances (henceforth referred to as: *fMRI task accuracy – residuals and word list learning – residuals*) were saved and used as estimates of reserve.

6. Aim & Hypotheses

Our aim was to test whether the functional connectivity of the LFC during episodic memory underlies reserve.

The first hypothesis (H1) was if education (as a protective factor related to reserve) is related to higher LFC functional connectivity during successful episodic memory processing. It was tested if a higher level of education (operationalized as number of years of formal education) is related to greater task efficiency (i.e. performance) during memory processing.

Next, we disposed the hypothesis (H2) that greater task-related connectivity of the LFC is a contributing factor to higher reserve.

Finally, we assessed if education is also associated with higher graph-theoretical measures such as the degree of the LFC during correct encoding and correct recognition.

7. Statistical analysis

In a first step we examined via linear regression analysis whether a higher educational level predicted higher reserve. Since we had a clear hypothesis about the directionality between reserve and memory performance (people with higher reserve would have greater memory performance), a one-tailed pthreshold could be applied for classifying an association as statistically significant.

To assess fMRI brain activation during task, the contrasts *accurate encoding* > *incorrect encoding* and *accurate recognition* > *incorrect recognition*—both derived at the subject level—were analyzed. Therefore, we used voxel-wise t-tests > 0, controlling for age and gender in each contrast.

Via voxel-wise multiple regression, we assessed, whether subjects with higher education showed higher task-related brain activation in the above-mentioned contrasts, applying an uncorrected voxel threshold of α = 0.001 and a FWE corrected cluster threshold of α = 0.05, controlling for age and gender.

The question whether educational level is related to greater task efficiency during memory processing was tested through a multiple regression analysis. In this analysis, task performance was set as the dependent variable and educational level as the independent variable. To examine the second hypothesis, whether education is related to a higher degree of the LFC during memory processing, we investigated the connectivity between the LFC and the remaining brain regions during *accurate encoding* and *accurate recognition*. The functional LFC connectivity during the two contrasts was assessed by employing a t-test > 0 on the subject-level contrasts *PPI accurate encoding* > 0 and *PPI accurate recognition* > 0, derived during the gPPI analysis. We then applied a voxel-threshold of α = 0.01 FWE, adjusted at the cluster level at α = 0.05 for all voxel-wise functional connectivity analyses. Control variables consisted of gender, age, and task accuracy. These voxel-wise analyses were conducted using SPM12, each confined to a group specific grey matter (GM) mask.

To examine our hypothesis that education is associated with greater functional LFC connectivity during *accurate memory encoding*, we used a voxel-wise multiple regression analysis. The dependent variable here was *PPI successful encoding > 0* maps with the subject level while the independent variable was education, controlling for age and gender. To ensure that the associations between reserve (as measured by education) and LFC functional connectivity were not driven by grey matter differences, the biological parametric mapping toolbox (66) was used to control for the grey matter volume in a voxel-wise manner. In brief, this toolbox implements the inclusion of voxel-wise imaging

covariates in the framework of SPM. For the current analysis, the modulated GM maps of our subjects were smoothed and normalized and entered as covariate images, additionally reducing the sensitivity to outliers by applying a robust regression model (67). Equivalent analyses as described above were conducted for *PPI successful recognition* > 0. For the present analyses, we used a voxel threshold of α = 0.01, but remained the FWE cluster correction at α = 0.05. We saved all clusters that showed a significant effect of education on the LFC connectivity during *successful encoding/recognition* as binary ROIs to extract the mean functional connectivity value (henceforth referred to as *education-related LFC connectivity* – *successful encoding/recognition*) from the corresponding subject level PPI maps.

Next, we extracted the mean value from the subject level PPI maps to then test the hypothesis, that a higher degree of education-linked connectivity of the LFC is related to a better residualized memory performance. In order to do this, we performed a multiple regression analysis with *fMRI task performance* as criterion variable and *education-related LFC-connectivity – successful encoding/recognition* as predictor variable. In this analysis, the variables age and gender were included as control variables. To investigate, whether higher *education-related LFC-connectivity* showed a generalized association with resilience independent of the fMRI memory task, we applied multiple linear

regression using *word list learning* – *residuals* (for the out-of-scannerperformance) as dependent variable and *education-related LFC-connectivity* – *correct encoding/recognition* as predictor.

For examining the hypothesis that a higher education-associated connectivity of the LFC is correlated to greater residualized memory performance, the onetailed p-threshold was set at an $\alpha = 0.05$. The open source statistical software package *R* (68) was used to calculate the multiple linear regression models, where the model assumptions (skewness, kurtosis, heteroscedasticity) were checked with the gvlma function provided by this program. No significant ($\alpha =$ 0.05) violations of these assumptions were detected for all models reported.

8. Results

Group demographics and details on neuropsychological characteristics are shown in table 1. The individual scores in the subtest 'word list learning' of the CERAD-NP-Plus battery were correlated with fMRI task accuracy.

	Cognitively normal subjects			
	(N=37)			
Age (M/SD)	72.33 / 5.77			
Gender (m/f)	12 / 25			
Years of Education (M/SD)	13.51 / 3.02			
fMRI task: Reaction Time (M/SD)	2254.39 / 316.09			
fMRI task: Accuracy (M/SD)	0.79 / 0.06			
MMSE score (M/SD)	0.37 / 0.99			
Word list learning score (M/SD)	22.95 / 2.76			
Geriatric depression score (M/SD)	4.46 4.35			

Table 1: Group demographics and neuropsychological characteristics:

8.1 Task-fMRI brain activation during successful encoding In a first step active brain regions during memory processing were identified related to *successful encoding* > *incorrect encoding*. We found significant clusters primarily in fronto-temporal brain areas of the left hemisphere (see Figure 4A) and could prove that the LFC is activated during *successful encoding*. See table 2 for more details about statistics and anatomical locations of significant clusters.

			MNI Coordinates			
Region Name	Extent	t-value	x	у	Z	
R Calcarine Gyrus	2367	6.8063	13.5	-91.5	15	
L Lingual Gyrus	2367	5.8242	-12	-90	-7.5	
L Fusiform Gyrus	2367	4.947	-31.5	-84	-10.5	
L IFG (p. Triangularis)	1750	5.8818	-43.5	15	25.5	
L Middle Frontal Gyrus	1750	3.9376	-40.5	7.5	46.5	
L Middle Frontal Gyrus	1750	3.4286	-37.5	34.5	25.5	
R Caudate Nucleus	292	5.5834	22.5	4.5	22.5	
L Precentral Gyrus	604	5.0787	-39	-12	42	
L Postcentral Gyrus	604	4.6891	-55.5	-10.5	28.5	
L Middle Temporal Gyrus	507	4.9735	-55.5	-43.5	-7.5	
L Middle Temporal Gyrus	507	4.6466	-58.5	-34.5	12	
L Middle Occipital Gyrus	496	4.7605	-27	-70.5	34.5	
L Middle Frontal Gyrus	327	4.704	-24	18	43.5	
L Superior Frontal Gyrus	650	4.6963	-18	57	24	
L Superior Frontal Gyrus	650	4.5152	-13.5	34.5	49.5	
L Middle Frontal Gyrus	387	4.4211	-36	40.5	6	

Table 2: Local maxima of significant clusters associated with successful encoding

In contrast, during *successful recognition* > *incorrect recognition* we discovered bilateral clusters of significant cerebral activation, predominantly in the mediofrontal, posterior-cingulate, as well as the occipital, inferior temporal cortex and the hippocampus (Figure 4). Details about cluster statistics and locations are shown in table 3.

			MNI Coordinates			
Region Name	Extent	t-value	x	у	Z	
R Middle Temporal Gyrus	813	6.6861	42	-70.5	3	
L Mid Orbital Gyrus	2527	6.5606	-7.5	46.5	-1.5	
R Mid Orbital Gyrus	2527	5.1411	13.5	49.5	-1.5	
R Cerebellum (VI)	2748	5.9157	15	-85.5	-13.5	
L Cerebellum (Crus 1)	2748	5.5557	-7.5	-85.5	-15	
L Fusiform Gyrus	2748	5.2846	-28.5	-66	-4.5	
L Hippocampus	271	5.0363	-25.5	-18	-12	
R Inferior Temporal Gyrus	292	4.9983	51	-51	-19.5	
R Putamen	322	4.9727	33	-13.5	-1.5	
R Insula Lobe	322	4.7303	40.5	9	1.5	
R Superior Temporal Gyrus	396	4.7121	52.5	-7.5	7.5	
R Cuneus	522	4.3585	12	-85.5	27	

Table 3: Local maxima of significant clusters associated with successful recognition





Figure 4: This illustration shows see brain areas where significant activation patterns could be detected in the GLM analysis of the fMRI memory task. Those clusters were highlighted where cerebral activity was significantly higher during accurate versus inaccurate encoding (A) or recognition (B) with a voxel threshold set at an α = 0.001 and a FWE corrected cluster threshold at an α = 0.05.

² The final publication is available at IOS Press through <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170360.</u> The permission to reprint this figure was granted by the publisher.

We further tested whether educational level (= years of education) was associated with higher levels of cerebral activity. With regard to the *correct encoding* > *incorrect encoding* or *correct recognition* > *incorrect recognition* conditions we found no significant clusters. Also, when applying a more liberal voxel-threshold of α = 0.01, at a FWE cluster correction of α = 0.05, we found no significant results, indicating that a higher educational level is not related to the degree of brain activity during a memory task.

A further test addressed the question if the average activation level of the LFC-ROI during task-related fMRI (*correct recognition* > *incorrect recognition* and *correct encoding* > *incorrect encoding*) was associated to higher levels of residualized memory. As a matter of fact, no significant association could be detected.

8.2 Reserve, LFC and residualized memory performance

We could show that the LFC entertains global connections during memory processing, both during *accurate encoding* and *accurate recognition*, as shown in Figure 5, left panel, which could be revealed by the use of voxel-wise t-tests on the LFC connectivity.

In a next step, we tested our first hypothesis that higher educational levels are correlated with higher rates of task-related functional LFC connectivity. During

accurate encoding our regression analysis revealed that subjects with greater education showed higher LFC connectivity, especially to inferior frontal, occipital as well as to inferior temporal brain areas. Conversely, during *successful recognition* a higher educational level was associated with greater connectivity of the LFC to the right parieto-occipital sulcus and left inferior frontal gyrus. Figure 5 illustrates the voxel-wise pattern of LFC connectivity, as well as education-related LFC connectivity for successful encoding (Fig 5A, right panel) and successful recognition (Fig 5B, right panel), controlled for age and gender. In contrast to these results, a higher educational level was **not** significantly related to an increased task-related connectivity of the occipital pole and precuneus regions, our two control ROIs, which can be viewed as indicative of the LFC specificity of the present findings. Figure 5: LFC connectivity during memory processing (adapted from 77³)





Figure 5: The illustration shows the results of the PPI analysis and the relationship between LFC-connectivity and educational level. In part A clusters of significant LFC connectivity (indicated in blue) during correct encoding are highlighted, while part B shows the respective clusters during successful recognition. Both clusters were computed by voxel-wise *t*-tests against zero, with a voxel threshold of α = 0.001 and a FWE-corrected cluster threshold of α = 0.05.

³ The final publication is available at IOS Press through <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170360.</u> The permission to reprint this figure was granted by the publisher.

Our second hypothesis focused on the question whether greater task-associated connectivity of the LFC was related to an elevated reserve (residualized memory performance) in the memory domain when age, gender, hippocampal atrophy, and APOE genotype were taken into account. To test this hypothesis, we extracted the mean connectivity value of clusters that were significantly related to *education* and examined whether higher education-related LFC connectivity predicted greater residualized memory performance. Regression analysis showed that greater education-related LFC connectivity - successful recognition significantly predicted *fMRI task accuracy* – *residuals* (t(35) = 2.161, p = 0.019). For education-related LFC connectivity – successful encoding we found an equivalent association to fMRI task accuracy – residuals at the trend level (t(35) = 1.625, p = 0.057). These results support our hypothesis that a better residualized task performance was related to higher functional LFC connectivity during both *correct encoding* and *correct recognition*.

Lastly, we investigated whether this relationship to residualized memory performance showed generalizability to the out of scanner memory performance. Here, both *education-related LFC connectivity* – *successful encoding* (t(35) = 1.972, p = 0.028) and *education-related LFC connectivity* – *successful recognition* (t(35) = 2.591, p = 0.007) significantly predicted *word list*

learning, residuals. Scatterplots for the relationships between *education-related LFC connectivity* – *encoding/recognition, fMRI task accuracy* - *residuals* and *word list learning* - *residuals* are illustrated in Figure 6. This supports the assumption that higher connectivity of the LFC is related to a better reserve in the field of mnestic performance which seems to apply both to normal and pathologically aging brains.

To sum up, no significant correlations between indices of residualized memory performance and connectivity measures of the occipital pole and precuneus regions—which served as our control ROIs— could be detected. This finding can be interpreted as an indicator of the specificity of the current results for the LFC. All findings presented in this context remained virtually unchanged after repeating the analyses with the residualized memory score, even if the MMSE score as an indicator of global cognition was additionally regressed out.





Figure 6: These scatterplots illustrate the relationship between educational level (operationalized as years of education) and connectivity of the LFC (defined as connectivity averaged across significant voxels as depicted in figure 5) during accurate encoding (panels A) and accurate recognition (panels B).

⁴ The final publication is available at IOS Press through <u>http://dx.doi.org/10.3233/JAD-170360.</u> The permission to reprint this figure was granted by the publisher.

9. Discussion

The main goal of the present study was to evaluate whether the functional connectivity (FC) of the lateral frontal cortex (LFC) during episodic memory processing supports reserve i.e. relatively well-preserved cognition compared to the level of brain pathology. We hypothesized that higher education (as a protective factor) is related to increased LFC functional connectivity during effective processing of episodic memory and that greater education-related LFC connectivity attenuates the effects of age-related brain changes on cognition.

The main results of the current study indicate that during successful memory encoding the LFC hub was strongly and universally connected with other brain regions and functional networks. Furthermore, it was found that (1) people with higher education show higher functional LFC connectivity during both memory encoding and recognition and that (2) there is a positive correlation between connectivity and mnestic abilities, i.e. the higher the LFC connectivity, the higher the memory performance.

Furthermore, our findings endorse and broaden earlier results pertaining to LFCconnectivity and reserve in mild cognitive impairment (MCI; (17)) assessed by resting-state fMRI, such as that during a memory task the brain-wide connectivity of the LFC hub facilitates reserve.

The current findings thus support our hypothesis that—in normal as well as in pathological aging—the global FC of the LFC, which is considered a central hub region of the fronto-parietal control network, supports reserve and helps maintaining memory performance.

To better understand why some elderly people are able to maintain their memory performance, we investigated the concept of the LFC as a potential substrate of reserve. For this purpose, reserve was defined as the residualized memory performance or more precisely as the discrepancy between the factually observed mnestic task performance and the level of performance which could be expected considering gender, age, hippocampal volume, and ApoE genotype (60). This concept of measuring reserve bears the advantage that it addresses a dynamic aspect of reserve (69) since one can observe changes in the residual variable over time, which probably represent a substrate of cognitive resilience to pathological cerebral processes.

The results of this study are in agreement with the conceptual model of reserve which was introduced by Stern et al. (13): Patients with higher reserve (education) showed better performance in memory tasks., This underlines the notion of a dynamic mechanism through which persons with more years of education are able to compensate for brain pathology or age-related brain changes.

Previous studies showed that in elderly subjects, higher residualized memory performance was associated with higher education, higher IQ, slower memory decline and a reduced risk of developing AD (69, 70). Moreover, it was found that the residual memory variance functions as a moderator variable for the mnestic performance that can be explained by brain variables and subsequent changes in executive functioning and language (60, 69).

Our results endorse the consideration that higher resting-state connectivity of the LFC is related to higher levels of fluid intelligence—a well-known protective factor with respect to the cognitive performance of elderly people. Interestingly, this association could also be detected in younger adults (32).

Overall, our findings support the presumption that connectivity of the LFC may be a brain feature that bears a plasticity with respect to environmental variables like education, and enables a person to compensate for pathological changes during diseases like AD. This confirms a concept of reserve as a dynamic capacity which can be modified and enhanced in the course of life.(9).

The LFC can be seen as a brain region that is highly qualified to support reserve capacity in aging (32), because it serves as a hub region of the fronto-parietal control network which is known to be essential for cognitive control, it. On the one hand, it belongs to the top 5% of cerebral regions with respect to the

number of connections, and on the other hand, it is also a central hub connecting various functional brain networks (71), allowing it to regulate the activity of other major networks in the brain (72).

In aging, the LFC in particular and together with the whole fronto-parietal control network may be responsible for an enhanced efficiency of major brain networks during cognitive processes, due to the finding that better education-based LFC connectivity to networks that are essential for memory processes is related to a better network efficiency (73). Therefore, the relatively spared LFC hub probably plays a central role with regard to the education-associated variability of network efficiency and seems to be well-suited to be conducive to the maintenance of cognitive abilities during the course of brain pathology like Alzheimer's disease.

Moreover, the definition of the posterior-anterior shift theory of aging (PASA) underlines the importance of the frontal lobe in aging as it refers to an agerelated reduction of occipito-temporal brain activity together with an agerelated frontal hyperactivation (74). According to the PASA theory an additional recruitment of education-related LFC connectivity allows elderly people to perform relatively well despite age-related cognitive decline (74) and therefore the frontal lobe is seen to be increasingly important to maintain cognitive

performance in aging (75). Several studies showed that the PASA theory can be found across a variety of cognitive functions including encoding and recognition and that an age-related reduction in functional connectivity involving posterior brain regions is associated with an increase of education-related LFC connectivity (76).

In addition, in older adults a hemispheric asymmetry reduction was described by several studies, a phenomenon addressed by the HAROLD theory. Due to HAROLD, an increased bilaterality, especially a recruitment of bilateral frontal regions during memory tasks in the aging brain, could help countervail neurocognitive deficits (76).

Even if we did not explicitly test the PASA or HAROLD theories and did not observe a compensatory increase in LFC connectivity with aging our findings thus support the importance of the frontal lobe, proving the LFC might be a substrate of reserve that helps maintaining memory performance in aging.

In a previous study it was shown that LFC functional connectivity was unmodified in prodromal AD patients and therefore an increase of LFC functional connectivity in aging may compensate for posterior parietal FDG-PET hypometabolism (77). This is also underlining our hypothesis of higher LFC connectivity as a protective and beneficial factor which strengthens mnestic functions in face of neurodegeneration. In addition, it seems to act as an

attenuator in terms of the negative impact of the parietal glucose hypometabolism on memory caused by Alzheimer's disease.

Limitations

There are several limitations to our study that should be taken into account. Firstly, a hypothesis-based approach was adopted which focused on the LFC as a potential substrate of reserve, thereby reducing the risk of random false positive findings. Due to this strategy, relevant changes in the connectivity of brain regions different from the LFC hub may have been missed.

However, we did analyse several control regions in the brain, including the precuneus (a region of higher cognitive abilities including memory), as well as the occipital pole (harbouring primary sensory areas) and could not detect any significant association with educational level or residualized mnestic performance. This finding endorses the specificity of our results with respect to the LFC as a potential substrate of reserve. Nevertheless, as it cannot be ruled out that other brain regions are also involved in reserve, more research is required to address these aspects.

Next, we focused on healthy elderly subjects. Application of the current findings to subjects with neurodegenerative disease is desirable. In fact, in extension to the current study (which was not part of the MD thesis), we applied the same

analysis scheme to face-name task obtained in patients with MCI (73). In this clientele, just like in the cognitively normal subjects evaluated in this study, it could also be found that the LFC supports memory performance due to a rapid and resource-efficient information processing in connected networks.

One further caveat that must be taken into consideration is the fact that in our sample of cognitively normal subjects there were carriers of the ApoE e4 allele, which could increase the probability of a beginning AD pathology. As a consequence, the variable ApoE genotype was included in the calculation of the residualized memory score, thus controlling for this genetic AD risk during the calculation of the individual reserve levels.

We caution against suggesting that education may act as a general protective factor, often called a proxy measure of reserve, that is correlated with variables like intelligence level, socioeconomic and health status, and risk of disease (64). The same level of formal education most likely does not signify that these people share the same lifetime experiences(78), (79). It rather could vary in groups with the same level of ability (80) and lead to test-taking strategies that can increase "test-wiseness" and thus let test bias occur. Education may be a life experience unspecific to reserve, lacking a causative influence on reserve. Thus, education should neither be taken as a measure of reserve nor as a causative event, but rather as an environmental protective factor associated with maintaining memory performance despite cognitive decline in aging.

Outlook

To summarize our findings, we conclude that the LFC has global connections to other brain regions during memory tasks. We could prove that during mnestic processes a better educational level is associated with higher connectivity of the LFC, which in turn predicts better task-performance in our memory paradigm, as well as in the word list learning test. High LFC connectivity may thus be an important facilitator of the effects of aging on the brain. We further argue that greater reserve-related functional connectivity of the LFC is compensatory for age-related hippocampal atrophy and the LFC can thus be seen as a substrate of reserve.

In terms of their clinical implications, the results of the present study strongly support the feasibility of a more sophisticated elucidation of the opportunities of the LFC-connectivity as a potential therapeutic target. Examples include using transcranial direct current stimulation (tDCS) of the LFC to enhance learning processes (shown in post-stroke patients) and maintain the working memory in aging (81). Also, cognitive training may improve memory performance and LFC function in both normal aging and mild cognitive impairment.

Even though some new studies questioned the concept of reserve and the hypothesis that more years of education could be compensatory for age-related decline (82), the fact that some elderly people maintain their memory performance better than others in the face of neurodegeneration remains to be further elucidated and with it the search for compensatory brain mechanisms. Finally, it would be interesting to see if our findings can be replicated in patients with neurodegenerative diseases other than AD, where functional connectivity of the LFC may also act as an indicator in pharmacological or psychological intervention trials.

10. References

1. Olshansky SJ, Antonucci T, Berkman L, Binstock RH, Boersch-Supan A, Cacioppo JT, et al. Differences in life expectancy due to race and educational differences are widening, and many may not catch up. Health Aff (Millwood). 2012;31(8):1803-13.

2. Peters R. Ageing and the brain. Postgrad Med J. 2006;82(964):84-8.

3. Salthouse TA. Neuroanatomical substrates of age-related cognitive decline. Psychol Bull. 2011;137(5):753-84.

4. Resnick SM, Goldszal AF, Davatzikos C, Golski S, Kraut MA, Metter EJ, et al. One-year age changes in MRI brain volumes in older adults. Cereb Cortex. 2000;10(5):464-72.

5. Shaw ME, Sachdev PS, Anstey KJ, Cherbuin N. Age-related cortical thinning in cognitively healthy individuals in their 60s: the PATH Through Life study. Neurobiol Aging. 2016;39:202-9.

6. Tulving E, Markowitsch HJ. Episodic and declarative memory: role of the hippocampus. Hippocampus. 1998;8(3):198-204.

7. Golomb J, de Leon MJ, Kluger A, George AE, Tarshish C, Ferris SH. Hippocampal atrophy in normal aging. An association with recent memory impairment. Arch Neurol. 1993;50(9):967-73.

8. Katzman R, Terry R, DeTeresa R, Brown T, Davies P, Fuld P, et al. Clinical, pathological, and neurochemical changes in dementia: a subgroup with preserved mental status and numerous neocortical plaques. Ann Neurol. 1988;23(2):138-44.

9. Stern Y. Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer disease. Alzheimer disease and associated disorders. 2006;20(3 Suppl 2):S69-74.

10. Valenzuela MJ, Sachdev P. Brain reserve and dementia: a systematic review. Psychological medicine. 2006;36(4):441-54.

11. Steffener J, Stern Y. Exploring the neural basis of cognitive reserve in aging. Biochimica et biophysica acta. 2012;1822(3):467-73.

12. Cole MW, Repovs G, Anticevic A. The frontoparietal control system: a central role in mental health. Neuroscientist. 2014;20(6):652-64.

13. Stern Y. Cognitive reserve. Neuropsychologia. 2009;47(10):2015-28.

14. Barulli D, Stern Y. Efficiency, capacity, compensation, maintenance, plasticity: emerging concepts in cognitive reserve. Trends in cognitive sciences. 2013;17(10):502-9.

15. Perneczky R, Wagenpfeil S, Lunetta KL, Cupples LA, Green RC, Decarli C, et al. Head circumference, atrophy, and cognition: implications for brain reserve in Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2010;75(2):137-42.

16. Nyberg L, Lovden M, Riklund K, Lindenberger U, Backman L. Memory aging and brain maintenance. Trends Cogn Sci. 2012;16(5):292-305.

17. Franzmeier N, Duering M, Weiner M, Dichgans M, Ewers M, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I. Left frontal cortex connectivity underlies cognitive reserve in prodromal Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2017;88(11):1054-61.

18. Hall CB, Derby C, LeValley A, Katz MJ, Verghese J, Lipton RB. Education delays accelerated decline on a memory test in persons who develop dementia. Neurology. 2007;69(17):1657-64.

19. Ewers M, Insel PS, Stern Y, Weiner MW, Alzheimer's Disease Neuroimaging I. Cognitive reserve associated with FDG-PET in preclinical Alzheimer disease. Neurology. 2013;80(13):1194-201.

20. Gow AJ, Bastin ME, Munoz Maniega S, Valdes Hernandez MC, Morris Z, Murray C, et al. Neuroprotective lifestyles and the aging brain: activity, atrophy, and white matter integrity. Neurology. 2012;79(17):1802-8.

21. Shenkin SD, Bastin ME, MacGillivray TJ, Deary IJ, Starr JM, Wardlaw JM. Childhood and current cognitive function in healthy 80-year-olds: a DT-MRI study. Neuroreport. 2003;14(3):345-9.

22. Duff K, Paulsen J, Mills J, Beglinger LJ, Moser DJ, Smith MM, et al. Mild cognitive impairment in prediagnosed Huntington disease. Neurology. 2010;75(6):500-7.

23. Scarmeas N, Zarahn E, Anderson KE, Hilton J, Flynn J, Van Heertum RL, et al. Cognitive reserve modulates functional brain responses during memory tasks: a PET study in healthy young and elderly subjects. NeuroImage. 2003;19(3):1215-27.

24. Scarmeas N, Stern Y. Cognitive reserve and lifestyle. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. 2003;25(5):625-33.

25. Elman JA, Oh H, Madison CM, Baker SL, Vogel JW, Marks SM, et al. Neural compensation in older people with brain amyloid-beta deposition. Nature neuroscience. 2014;17(10):1316-8.

26. Cabeza R, Grady CL, Nyberg L, McIntosh AR, Tulving E, Kapur S, et al. Age-related differences in neural activity during memory encoding and retrieval: a positron emission tomography study. J Neurosci. 1997;17(1):391-400.

27. Fox MD, Snyder AZ, Vincent JL, Corbetta M, Van Essen DC, Raichle ME. The human brain is intrinsically organized into dynamic, anticorrelated functional networks. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America. 2005;102(27):9673-8.

28. Cole MW, Reynolds JR, Power JD, Repovs G, Anticevic A, Braver TS. Multi-task connectivity reveals flexible hubs for adaptive task control. Nature neuroscience. 2013;16(9):1348-55.

29. Smith SM, Fox PT, Miller KL, Glahn DC, Fox PM, Mackay CE, et al. Correspondence of the brain's functional architecture during activation and rest. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A. 2009;106(31):13040-5.

30. Tucker AM, Stern Y. Cognitive reserve in aging. Current Alzheimer research. 2011;8(4):354-60.

31. Cole MW, Pathak S, Schneider W. Identifying the brain's most globally connected regions. Neuroimage. 2010;49(4):3132-48.

32. Cole MW, Yarkoni T, Repovs G, Anticevic A, Braver TS. Global connectivity of prefrontal cortex predicts cognitive control and intelligence. The Journal of neuroscience : the official journal of the Society for Neuroscience. 2012;32(26):8988-99.

33. Gray SJ, Brookshire G, Casasanto D, Gallo DA. Electrically stimulating prefrontal cortex at retrieval improves recollection accuracy. Cortex; a journal devoted to the study of the nervous system and behavior. 2015;73:188-94.

34. Franzmeier N, Caballero MAA, Taylor ANW, Simon-Vermot L, Buerger K, Ertl-Wagner B, et al. Resting-state global functional connectivity as a biomarker of cognitive reserve in mild cognitive impairment. Brain imaging and behavior. 2017;11(2):368-82.

35. Huneau C, Benali H, Chabriat H. Investigating Human Neurovascular Coupling Using Functional Neuroimaging: A Critical Review of Dynamic Models. Front Neurosci. 2015;9:467.

36. van den Heuvel MP, Hulshoff Pol HE. Exploring the brain network: a review on restingstate fMRI functional connectivity. Eur Neuropsychopharmacol. 2010;20(8):519-34. 37. Sala-Llonch R, Palacios EM, Junque C, Bargallo N, Vendrell P. Functional networks and structural connectivity of visuospatial and visuoperceptual working memory. Front Hum Neurosci. 2015;9:340.

38. Biswal BB, Van Kylen J, Hyde JS. Simultaneous assessment of flow and BOLD signals in resting-state functional connectivity maps. NMR Biomed. 1997;10(4-5):165-70.

39. Sporns O, Honey CJ, Kotter R. Identification and classification of hubs in brain networks. PLoS One. 2007;2(10):e1049.

40. Tavor I, Parker Jones O, Mars RB, Smith SM, Behrens TE, Jbabdi S. Task-free MRI predicts individual differences in brain activity during task performance. Science. 2016;352(6282):216-20.

41. Zhang S, Li X, Lv J, Jiang X, Guo L, Liu T. Characterizing and differentiating task-based and resting state fMRI signals via two-stage sparse representations. Brain Imaging Behav. 2016;10(1):21-32.

42. Czerniak SM, Sikoglu EM, King JA, Kennedy DN, Mick E, Frazier J, et al. Areas of the brain modulated by single-dose methylphenidate treatment in youth with ADHD during task-based fMRI: a systematic review. Harv Rev Psychiatry. 2013;21(3):151-62.

43. Amaro E, Jr., Barker GJ. Study design in fMRI: basic principles. Brain Cogn. 2006;60(3):220-32.

44. Mennes M, Kelly C, Zuo XN, Di Martino A, Biswal BB, Castellanos FX, et al. Interindividual differences in resting-state functional connectivity predict task-induced BOLD activity. Neuroimage. 2010;50(4):1690-701.

45. Friston KJ, Buechel C, Fink GR, Morris J, Rolls E, Dolan RJ. Psychophysiological and modulatory interactions in neuroimaging. Neuroimage. 1997;6(3):218-29.

46. O'Reilly JX, Woolrich MW, Behrens TE, Smith SM, Johansen-Berg H. Tools of the trade: psychophysiological interactions and functional connectivity. Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci. 2012;7(5):604-9.

47. Geriatric Depression Scale (GDS). Occas Pap R Coll Gen Pract. 2002(82):46.

48. Schmid NS, Ehrensperger MM, Berres M, Beck IR, Monsch AU. The extension of the German CERAD neuropsychological assessment battery with tests assessing subcortical, executive and frontal functions improves accuracy in dementia diagnosis. Dement Geriatr Cogn Dis Extra . 2014;4(2):332-34.

49. Celone KA, Calhoun VD, Dickerson BC, Atri A, Chua EF, Miller SL, et al. Alterations in memory networks in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease: an independent component analysis. J Neurosci. 2006;26(40):10222-31.

50. Sperling RA, Laviolette PS, O'Keefe K, O'Brien J, Rentz DM, Pihlajamaki M, et al. Amyloid deposition is associated with impaired default network function in older persons without dementia. Neuron. 2009;63(2):178-88.

51. Ashburner J, Friston KJ. Unified segmentation. NeuroImage. 2005;26(3):839-51.

52. Ashburner J. A fast diffeomorphic image registration algorithm. NeuroImage. 2007;38(1):95-113.

53. Mak HK, Zhang Z, Yau KK, Zhang L, Chan Q, Chu LW. Efficacy of voxel-based morphometry with DARTEL and standard registration as imaging biomarkers in Alzheimer's disease patients and cognitively normal older adults at 3.0 Tesla MR imaging. Journal of Alzheimer's disease : JAD. 2011;23(4):655-64.

54. Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Landeau B, Papathanassiou D, Crivello F, Etard O, Delcroix N, et al. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. NeuroImage. 2002;15(1):273-89. 55. Friston KJ, Holmes AP, Poline JB, Grasby PJ, Williams SC, Frackowiak RS, et al. Analysis of fMRI time-series revisited. Neuroimage. 1995;2(1):45-53.

56. Yarkoni T, Poldrack RA, Nichols TE, Van Essen DC, Wager TD. Large-scale automated synthesis of human functional neuroimaging data. Nature methods. 2011;8(8):665-70.

57. Huijbers W, Vannini P, Sperling RA, C MP, Cabeza R, Daselaar SM. Explaining the encoding/retrieval flip: memory-related deactivations and activations in the posteromedial cortex. Neuropsychologia. 2012;50(14):3764-74.

58. McLaren DG, Ries ML, Xu G, Johnson SC. A generalized form of context-dependent psychophysiological interactions (gPPI): a comparison to standard approaches. NeuroImage. 2012;61(4):1277-86.

59. Gitelman DR, Penny WD, Ashburner J, Friston KJ. Modeling regional and psychophysiologic interactions in fMRI: the importance of hemodynamic deconvolution. Neuroimage. 2003;19(1):200-7.

60. Reed BR, Mungas D, Farias ST, Harvey D, Beckett L, Widaman K, et al. Measuring cognitive reserve based on the decomposition of episodic memory variance. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2010;133(Pt 8):2196-209.

61. Arenaza-Urquijo EM, Wirth M, Chetelat G. Cognitive reserve and lifestyle: moving towards preclinical Alzheimer's disease. Front Aging Neurosci. 2015;7:134.

62. Meng X, D'Arcy C. Education and dementia in the context of the cognitive reserve hypothesis: a systematic review with meta-analyses and qualitative analyses. PLoS One. 2012;7(6):e38268.

63. Morbelli S, Perneczky R, Drzezga A, Frisoni GB, Caroli A, van Berckel BN, et al. Metabolic networks underlying cognitive reserve in prodromal Alzheimer disease: a European Alzheimer disease consortium project. Journal of nuclear medicine : official publication, Society of Nuclear Medicine. 2013;54(6):894-902.

64. Stern Y, Alexander GE, Prohovnik I, Mayeux R. Inverse relationship between education and parietotemporal perfusion deficit in Alzheimer's disease. Ann Neurol. 1992;32(3):371-5.

65. Vemuri P, Weigand SD, Przybelski SA, Knopman DS, Smith GE, Trojanowski JQ, et al. Cognitive reserve and Alzheimer's disease biomarkers are independent determinants of cognition. Brain : a journal of neurology. 2011;134(Pt 5):1479-92.

66. Casanova R, Srikanth R, Baer A, Laurienti PJ, Burdette JH, Hayasaka S, et al. Biological parametric mapping: A statistical toolbox for multimodality brain image analysis. NeuroImage. 2007;34(1):137-43.

67. Yang X, Beason-Held L, Resnick SM, Landman BA. Robust Biological Parametric Mapping: An Improved Technique for Multimodal Brain Image Analysis. Proc SPIE Int Soc Opt Eng. 2011;7962:79623X.

68. R Development Core Team. R: A language and environment for statistical computing. Vienna, Austria: R Foundation for Statistical Computing; 2013.

69. Zahodne LB, Manly JJ, Brickman AM, Narkhede A, Griffith EY, Guzman VA, et al. Is residual memory variance a valid method for quantifying cognitive reserve? A longitudinal application. Neuropsychologia. 2015;77:260-6.

70. Habeck C, Razlighi Q, Gazes Y, Barulli D, Steffener J, Stern Y. Cognitive Reserve and Brain Maintenance: Orthogonal Concepts in Theory and Practice. Cereb Cortex. 2016.

71. Cole MW, Ito T, Braver TS. The Behavioral Relevance of Task Information in Human Prefrontal Cortex. Cereb Cortex. 2016;26(6):2497-505.

72. Cole MW, Ito T, Braver TS. Lateral Prefrontal Cortex Contributes to Fluid Intelligence Through Multinetwork Connectivity. Brain connectivity. 2015;5(8):497-504. 73. Franzmeier N, Hartmann JC, Taylor ANW, Araque-Caballero MA, Simon-Vermot L, Kambeitz-Ilankovic L, et al. The left frontal cortex supports reserve in aging by enhancing functional network efficiency. Alzheimers Res Ther. 2018;10(1):28.

74. Davis SW, Dennis NA, Daselaar SM, Fleck MS, Cabeza R. Que PASA? The posterioranterior shift in aging. Cerebral cortex. 2008;18(5):1201-9.

75. Eavani H, Hsieh MK, An Y, Erus G, Beason-Held L, Resnick S, et al. Capturing heterogeneous group differences using mixture-of-experts: Application to a study of aging. Neuroimage. 2016;125:498-514.

76. Cabeza R, Anderson ND, Locantore JK, McIntosh AR. Aging gracefully: compensatory brain activity in high-performing older adults. Neuroimage. 2002;17(3):1394-402.

77. Franzmeier N, Hartmann JC, Taylor ANW, Araque Caballero MA, Simon-Vermot L, Buerger K, et al. Left Frontal Hub Connectivity during Memory Performance Supports Reserve in Aging and Mild Cognitive Impairment. J Alzheimers Dis. 2017;59(4):1381-92.

78. Manly JJ, Jacobs DM, Touradji P, Small SA, Stern Y. Reading level attenuates differences in neuropsychological test performance between African American and White elders. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2002;8(3):341-8.

79. Jones RN. Racial bias in the assessment of cognitive functioning of older adults. Aging Ment Health. 2003;7(2):83-102.

80. Fyffe DC, Mukherjee S, Barnes LL, Manly JJ, Bennett DA, Crane PK. Explaining differences in episodic memory performance among older African Americans and Whites: the roles of factors related to cognitive reserve and test bias. J Int Neuropsychol Soc. 2011;17(4):625-38.

81. Floel A, Witte AV, Lohmann H, Wersching H, Ringelstein EB, Berger K, et al. Lifestyle and memory in the elderly. Neuroepidemiology. 2008;31(1):39-47.

82. Buchman AS, Yu L, Wilson RS, Lim A, Dawe RJ, Gaiteri C, et al. Physical activity, common brain pathologies, and cognition in community-dwelling older adults. Neurology. 2019;92(8):e811-e22.

11. Appendix

11.1. Declaration

I declare that this thesis was composed by myself, that the work contained herein is my own except where explicitly stated otherwise in the text, and that this work has not been submitted for any other degree or qualification except as specified.

Parts of this work have been published in the 'Alzheimer's Research & Therapy' Journal and the 'Journal of Alzheimer's Disease'.

11.2 Acknowledgements

First of all, I would like to express the deepest appreciation to my supervising tutor, Nicolai Franzmeier, for his support through each stage of the process. Without his guidance, persistent help and patience this dissertation would not have been possible.

Secondly, I would like to acknowledge Professor Dr. Michael Ewers for the central theme and his ambition. I really enjoyed working with him and his team. Moreover, I would like to thank my family, especially my father, without whom I would have been lost, who always listened, gave his best advice and counterchecked this thesis.

11.3 Eidesstattliche Versicherung

Hartmann, Julia Clarissa

Ich erkläre hiermit an Eides statt,

dass ich die vorliegende Dissertation mit dem Titel

"The lateral frontal cortex as a potential substrate of cognitive reserve"

selbstständig verfasst, mich außer der angegebenen keiner weiteren Hilfsmittel bedient und alle Erkenntnisse, die aus dem Schrifttum ganz oder annähernd übernommen sind, als solche kenntlich gemacht habe und nach ihrer Herkunft unter Bezeichnung der Fundstelle einzeln nachgewiesen habe.

Ich erkläre des Weiteren, dass die hier vorgelegte Dissertation nicht in gleicher oder in ähnlicher Form bei einer anderen Stelle zur Erlangung eines akademischen Grades eingereicht wurde.

München, 25.04.2021

Julia Clarissa Hartmann